
Healthy Communities Scrutiny 
Commission

Tuesday 2 April 2019
7.00 pm

Ground Floor Meeting Room G01A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH

Membership Reserves

Councillor Barrie Hargrove (Chair)
Councillor David Noakes (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Jack Buck
Councillor Radha Burgess
Councillor Gavin Edwards
Councillor Maria Linforth-Hall
Councillor Leanne Werner

Councillor Damian O'Brien
Councillor Maggie Browning
Councillor Sirajul Islam
Councillor Sunny Lambe
Councillor Richard Leeming

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Access to information You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports 
on this agenda as well as the background documents used in the preparation of these reports.
Babysitting/Carers allowances If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to 
look after your children, an elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could 
attend this meeting, you may claim an allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form 
at the meeting.
Access The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building 
access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below.
Contact Julie Timbrell  on 020 7525 0514  email: julie.timbrell@southwark.gov.uk  

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting
Eleanor Kelly
Chief Executive
Date: 25 March 2019

Open Agenda

http://www.southwark.gov.uk/Public/Home.aspx


Healthy Communities Scrutiny Commission
Tuesday 2 April 2019

7.00 pm
Ground Floor Meeting Room G01A - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH

Order of Business

Item No. Title Page No.

PART A - OPEN BUSINESS

1. APOLOGIES

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT

In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within 5 clear working days of the meeting.

3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

Members to declare any interests and dispensations in respect of any item 
of business to be considered at this meeting.

4. MINUTES

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the open section of the 
meeting on 3 December 2018, to follow.

5. DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING.



Item No. Title Page No.

6. NEXUS HEALTH GROUP - CQC REPORT 1 - 9

Nexus Health Group is a provider registered with CQC. The provider has 
eight sites with one sites used at the CQC registered location. The sites 
were previously independent GP practices which merged to become 
Nexus Health Group in 2016. The individual sites have retained the names 
from the historic partnerships.

The CQC  carried out an inspection at the head office site, Princess Street 
Group Practice, on 1 November 2018 as part of our GP provider at scale 
pilot. This was to assess the centralised functions within Nexus Health 
Group. The individual sites were then  individually inspected :

Princess Street Group Practice – 14 November 2018

Surrey Docks Health Centre – 15 November 2018

Aylesbury Medical Centre – 20 November 2018

The Dun Cow Surgery – 21 November 2018

Commercial way Surgery – 22 November 2018

Decima Street Surgery & Artesian Health Centre - 28 November 2018

The CQC have rated this practice as inadequate overall and requires 
improvement for all population groups. They based their judgement of the 
quality of care at this service on a combination of:

 what was found when they inspected

 information from  ongoing monitoring of data about services and

 information from the provider, patients, the public and other 
organisations.

The full CQC report is enclosed. The CCG will be in attendance. 

1. HEALTH INEQUALITIES SCRUTINY REVIEW

Draft report is to follow. 

PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS

DISCUSSION OF ANY CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START 
OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT



Item No. Title Page No.

Date:  25 March 2019

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the 
sub-committee wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports 
revealing exempt information:

  “That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1-7, Access to Information 
Procedure rules of the Constitution.”



This report describes our judgement of the quality of care at this service. It is based on a combination of what we found
when we inspected, information from our ongoing monitoring of data about services and information given to us from
the provider, patients, the public and other organisations.

Ratings

Overall rating for this location Inadequate –––

Are services safe? Inadequate –––

Are services effective? Requires improvement –––

Are services caring? Good –––

Are services responsive? Requires improvement –––

Are services well-led? Inadequate –––

NexusNexus HeHealthalth GrGroupoup
Inspection report

2 Princess Street
Elephant and Castle
London
SE1 6JP
Tel: 020 7928 0253
www.princessstreetgrouppractice.co.uk

Date of inspection visit: 1 November 2018 to 28
November 2018
Date of publication: 26/02/2019

1 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

1
Agenda Item 6



Nexus Health Group is a provider registered with CQC. The
provider has eight sites with one sites used at the CQC
registered location. The sites were previously independent
GP practices which merged to become Nexus Health Group
in 2016. The individual sites have retained the names from
the historic partnerships.

We carried out an inspection at the head office site,
Princess Street Group Practice, on 1 November 2018 as part
of our GP provider at scale pilot. This was to assess the
centralised functions within Nexus Health Group. The
individual sites were then to be individually inspected as
part of our regularly scheduled inspection programme.

Due to concerns identified at the provider level inspection
on 1 November 2018 we issued a letter of intent (informing
the provider of our intention to take enforcement action)
and allowed the provider to submit a response. The
provider submitted an action plan in response to the letter
of intent. We undertook an unannounced inspection of
Manor Place Surgery on 7 November 2018 on the basis of
concerns raised at the provider level inspection and
information submitted by the provider before and after the
inspection on 1 November 2018. After the inspection on 7
November 2018 we issued warning notices for breaches of
regulation 12 (Safe Care and Treatment) and 17 (Good
Governance) of the The Health and Social Care Act 2008
(Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. Details of the
concerns raised and enforcement action taken can be
found at the end of this report. We then proceeded to
inspect the remaining sites as follows:

Princess Street Group Practice – 14 November 2018

Surrey Docks Health Centre – 15 November 2018

Aylesbury Medical Centre – 20 November 2018

The Dun Cow Surgery – 21 November 2018

Commercial way Surgery – 22 November 2018

Decima Street Surgery & Artesian Health Centre - 28
November 2018

We based our judgement of the quality of care at this
service on a combination of:

• what we found when we inspected
• information from our ongoing monitoring of data about

services and
• information from the provider, patients, the public and

other organisations.

We have rated this practice as inadequate overall and
requires improvement for all population groups.

We rated the practice as inadequate for providing safe
services because:

• The practice did not have appropriate systems in place
for the safe management of medicines at all sites.

• Staff did not all have safeguarding, fire and infection
control training.

• Necessary recruitment information had not been
retained for all staff and the practice had not
undertaken DBS checks for all staff who required them.

• Not all staff had evidence of their immunisation status
on file.

• There were 1023 results dating back to 2 July 2018
which had either not been filed or not been viewed and
filed. Four hundred and forty-two of these results were
marked as being abnormal. Of the sample of 30
outstanding results we reviewed we found that five of
these results had not had appropriate action taken.
There were 4187 outstanding clinical tasks dating back
to 13 February 2017 which had not been actioned. Of 40
unactioned tasks we reviewed four highlighted concerns
related to the quality of clinical care being provided by
the service. The provider put an action plan in place to
review the outstanding tasks and results and put
systems in place to prevent this from reoccurring.

• There was no global oversight of a separate electronic
system for incoming results and correspondence.

• Necessary tasks were not being completed at some sites
due to a multitude of reasons including staffing
shortages and lack of effective governance

• Some sites did not have a system in place to monitor
non-medicine safety alerts.

• We found some expired medical emergency equipment
at some sites and the systems for checking equipment
and vaccines was not consistent across all sites.

• Risks associated with the premises were not adequately
mitigated at some sites including those risks associated
with legionella and fire.

• The practice did learn and make improvements when
things went wrong at site level but there was little
evidence of cross site learning from significant events.

We rated the practice as inadequate for providing well-led
services because:

Overall summary

2 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

2



• There was a lack of effective centralised oversight and
governance in respect of key areas of the organisation
including the management of test result and other
clinical correspondence.

• Leaders could not show that they had the capacity and
skills to deliver safe and effective care as at this stage of
the merger process they did not have adequate
oversight of risks within the organisation and lines of
responsibility were not always clear.

• While the provider had a clear vision, and was in the
process of developing a strategy to implement this;
transitional arrangements put in place during the
development of the merger were not sufficient to ensure
that high quality care was being consistently provided
across all sites.

• The practice culture aimed to support the delivery of
high quality sustainable care. However, deficiencies in
governance limited the practice’s ability to achieve this
aim.

• The practice did not have clear and effective processes
for managing risks, issues and performance. For
example, in relation to risks associated with legionella,
fire safety risks and medical emergencies.

• The provider had tried to institute a Nexus-wide patient
participation group across all sites but this was not
operating effectively.

• The practice did not always act on information
appropriately. For example, the practice had previously
identified the concerns related to clinical
correspondence but had failed to put adequate systems
in place to address this issue prior to our inspection. The
provider took action following our provider level
inspection to put systems in place to address this
concern.

• We saw evidence of systems and processes for learning,
continuous improvement and innovation.

We rated the practice as requires improvement for
providing effective services because:

• Due to concerns related to the lack of oversight of
clinical correspondence we could not be assured that
patients were receiving consistently high quality and
effective care.

• The practice was unable to show that staff had the skills,
knowledge and experience to carry out their roles as not
all staff had received an appraisal or completed
mandatory training.

However

• There was evidence that outcomes of care and
treatment were being monitored.

• The practice demonstrated that staff obtained consent
to care and treatment.

• Performance data was comparable to local and national
averages in most areas with the exception of cervical
screening and uptake of childhood immunisations.

We rated the practice as requires improvement for
responsive services because:

• Although the practice organised and delivered services
to meet patients’ needs. Patient feedback from the
national GP patient survey indicated that patients could
not always access care and treatment in a timely way.
Although the practice was taking steps to improve
access; action had not been implemented. The practice
had not undertaken their internal feedback exercise to
see if access had improved.

These areas in effective and responsive services affected all
population groups so we rated all population groups as
requires improvement

We rated the practice as good for providing caring services
because:

• Staff dealt with patients with kindness and respect and
involved them in decisions about their care.

• There were a lack of formalised systems and processes
in place to support carers and patients who had
experienced bereavement at some sites.

The areas where the provider must make improvements
are:

• Ensure that care and treatment is provided in a safe
way.

• Establish effective systems and processes to ensure
good governance in accordance with the fundamental
standards of care.

(Please see the specific details on action required at the
end of this report). Note: Warning notices were issued to
the provider following the inspection undertaken on 1 and
7 November. This was to ensure that the provider was
aware of our concerns and that action was taken quickly to
address these concerns and mitigate risks to patients.
Requirement notices were issued for the additional

Overall summary

3 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

3



concerns which related to breaches identified at the end of
the inspection cycle. The level of risk stemming from these
concerns was not deemed to be sufficient to require
additional enforcement action.

The areas where the provider should make improvements
are:

• Continue with work to improve the uptake of childhood
immunisations and cervical screening rates.

• Review staffing levels across the organisation to ensure
that there is sufficient capacity to complete all
necessary tasks.

• Review systems for sharing learning from significant
events across the organisation.

• Review systems in place to support patients with caring
responsibilities and those who have suffered
bereavement.

• Review systems related to the security of patient
records.

• Continue with plans to address patient satisfaction
around access and review the impact of these actions
once implemented.

• Review and improve the systems in place to engage with
patients and obtain feedback.

• Consider ways to provide information in different
languages and in alternative formats for patients with
learning disabilities.

I am placing this service in special measures. Services
placed in special measures will be inspected again within
six months. If insufficient improvements have been made
such that there remains a rating of inadequate for any
population group, key question or overall, we will take
action in line with our enforcement procedures to begin the
process of preventing the provider from operating the
service. This will lead to cancelling their registration or to
varying the terms of their registration within six months if
they do not improve.

The service will be kept under review and if needed could
be escalated to urgent enforcement action. Where
necessary, another inspection will be conducted within a
further six months, and if there is not enough improvement
we will move to close the service by adopting our proposal
to remove this location or cancel the provider’s registration.

Special measures will give people who use the service the
reassurance that the care they get should improve.

Details of our findings and the evidence supporting
our ratings are set out in the evidence tables.

Professor Steve Field CBE FRCP FFPH FRCGP

Chief Inspector of General Practice

Overall summary

4 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

4



Population group ratings

Older people Requires improvement –––

People with long-term conditions Requires improvement –––

Families, children and young people Requires improvement –––

Working age people (including those recently retired and
students)

Requires improvement –––

People whose circumstances may make them vulnerable Requires improvement –––

People experiencing poor mental health (including people
with dementia)

Requires improvement –––

Our inspection team
Our inspection team was led by a CQC lead inspector and
supported by a second inspector. The team included
CQC national GP clinical advisors, CQC national nursing

advisor, GP specialist advisers and practice management
specialist advisers. The composition of the team varied
on each inspection depending on resource requirement
and availability.

Background to Nexus Health Group
Nexus Health Group head office address is located at 2
Princess Street, Elephant and Castle, London, SE1 6JP.
The eight sites are located at the following addresses:

Princess Street Group Practice - 2 Princess Street,
Elephant and Castle, London, SE1 6JP

Manor Place Surgery - 1 Manor Place, London, SE17 3BD

Surrey Docks Health Centre –12-13 Blondin Way, London
SE16 6AE

Aylesbury Medical Centre - Thurlow Street, London SE17
2XE

The Dun Cow Surgery – 279 Old Kent Road, London, SE1
5LU

Commercial way surgery – 109 Commercial Way, London
SE15 6DB

Decima Street Surgery -

Artesian Health Centre -

We were told that the intention was to organise services
in a way that enabled patients to be seen at multiple sites
and to undertake joint working across sites. However, this
was still in development and at present patients were
linked to a particular practice or group of practices that
worked together historically. For example, Aylesbury

Medical Centre, Dun Cow Surgery and Commercial Way
Surgery had previously merged into the Aylesbury
partnership and shared staff and back office functions
across sites. Decima Street Surgery and Artesian Health
Centre operated in the same way under Bermondsey and
Lansdowne Medical Mission 2.

The provider is registered with CQC to deliver the
Regulated Activities; diagnostic and screening
procedures, maternity and midwifery services, family
planning, surgical procedures and treatment of disease,
disorder or injury. These are delivered from all eight sites.

Nexus Health Group’s eight sites are situated within
Southwark Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and
provide services to approximately 74,000 patients under
the terms of a personal medical services (PMS) contract.
This is a contract between general practices and NHS
England for delivering services to the local community.

The provider is a partnership comprised of 15 partners
including two non-clinical partners. Authority is
delegated from the partnership which is comprised of a
chair, the Chief Officer and board members; including
clinical leads for each site. Authority is then delegated to
locality managers who have responsibility for a number
of sites and lead on a number of areas across Nexus. At

Overall summary

5 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

5



site level there are operations managers covering
between one and two sites and each site has a team
leader. There was a vacancy for a team leader and an
operations manager at the time of our inspection.

The staffing at each site is:

Surrey Docks – 43 GP sessions including six locum
sessions, 3-part time Health Care Assistants (HCA) and a
part time nurse working 23 hours per week.

Princess Street – 44 GP sessions, 1 full time HCA, 1 full
time Advanced Nurse Practitioner, 2 full time nurses and 2
part time nurses.

Manor Place surgery – 25 GP sessions, full time and part
time nurse and two-part time HCAs

Aylesbury Medical Centre, Dun Cow Surgery and
Commercial Way – 70 GP sessions plus 12 registrar
sessions, three part time pharmacists, an advanced nurse
practitioner who works 42 hours per week an elderly Care
Nurse working 30 hours per week, one full time and one
part time HCA and six full time nurses.

Decima Street Surgery and Artesian Health Centre – 79 GP
sessions, two full time practice nurses, a part time nurse
and a full-time nurse practitioner, part time HCA and full
time clinical pharmacist

The practice is a member of Quay Health Solutions
Federation.

There are a higher than average number of patients of
working age registered with Nexus Health Group
compared with the national average and lower numbers
of patients over the age of 65. The age demographics
were comparable to those of other practices within the
CCG. The percentage of patients not in employment was
over double the national average and the practice has a
slightly lower proportion of patients with long standing
health conditions. The National General Practice Profile
states that 21% of the practice population is from a black
ethnic background with a further 15% of the population
originating from Asian minority groups, 10% of patients
are from mixed or other non-white ethnic groups. This
information is historic and likely only relates to Princess
Street Group Practice location. Information published by
Public Health England rates the level of deprivation
within the practice population group as one, on a scale of
one to ten. Level one represents the highest levels of
deprivation and level ten the lowest. The practice is rated
a three on this scale and has almost double the levels of
deprivation affecting children and older people
compared to the national average. Again, this information
is historic and only relates to the Princess Street location.
The provider told us that annual patient turnover across
the eight sites ranged from 10 – 20%.

Overall summary

6 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

6



Action we have told the provider to take
The table below shows the legal requirements that the service provider was not meeting. The provider must send CQC a
report that says what action it is going to take to meet these requirements.

Regulated activity
Diagnostic and screening procedures

Family planning services

Maternity and midwifery services

Surgical procedures

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 17 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Good
governance

How the regulation was not being met:

• Certain recruitment and monitoring information was
either not available or up to date for all staff; both in
respect of those who joined the organisation and those
who transitioned to different roles.

• Stocks of vaccines were not being checked consistently
across the organisation to ensure stock was in date.

• Fire drills and alarm testing was not being undertaken
at one site.

• There was no evidence about some staff member’s
immunity to common communicable diseases.

This was in breach of Regulation 17 (1) of the Health and
Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations
2014.

Regulation

This section is primarily information for the provider

Requirement notices

7 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

7



Action we have told the provider to take
The table below shows the legal requirements that the service provider was not meeting. The provider must send CQC a
report that says what action it is going to take to meet these. We took enforcement action because the quality of
healthcare required significant improvement.

Regulated activity
Diagnostic and screening procedures

Family planning services

Maternity and midwifery services

Surgical procedures

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Regulation 12 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Safe care and
treatment

Warning notice

How the regulation was not being met:

• Not all risks to patients had been mitigated. For
example, reviews of records showed that patients
prescribed ACE inhibitors and asthma medicines were
not having regular reviews. Reviews of the records of
vulnerable and complex patients indicated deficiencies
in care which had the potential to compromise the
safety of these patients.

• There were instances where clinical correspondence
not be acted upon in a timely or appropriate manner
placing patients at potential risk of harm.

• Not all emergency equipment was being regularly
checked to ensure that it was working properly.

• Action had not been taken in response to water
temperature testing which showed temperatures were
at levels where legionella bacteria could grow.

• We found some uncollected prescriptions that were
over three months old which had not been reviewed by
any member of staff and no action had been taken to
contact the patients concerned.

• The two week wait referral process was not failsafe and
there was no mechanism to ensure that results from
two week wait referrals had been received.

This was in breach of Regulation 12 (1) of the Health and
Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations
2014.

Regulated activity
Diagnostic and screening procedures

Family planning services

Regulation 17 HSCA (RA) Regulations 2014 Good
governance

Regulation

Regulation

This section is primarily information for the provider

Enforcement actions

8 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

8



Maternity and midwifery services

Surgical procedures

Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

Warning notice

How the regulation was not being met:

• There was no effective system in place to oversee
incoming clinical correspondence and clinical tasks on
the patient record system to ensure that
correspondence was reviewed and acted upon in a
timely manner and that appropriate action was taken.

• Effective systems were not in place to ensure that
patient who required medication reviews had these
undertaken in accordance with guidelines and that
vulnerable patients were consistently provided with the
required support.

• Systems were not in place to ensure emergency
equipment was being regularly checked to ensure that
it was working properly.

• Systems were not in place to ensure that action was
taken to prevent the development of legionella
bacteria.

• The systems for reviewing uncollected prescriptions
were inconsistent.

• The practice did not have effective oversight of training.
• The two week wait referral process was not failsafe.

This was in breach of Regulation 17 (1) of the Health and
Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations
2014.

This section is primarily information for the provider

Enforcement actions

9 Nexus Health Group Inspection report 26/02/2019

9



10



HEALTHY COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018-19

AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN)

NOTE: Original held by Scrutiny Team; all amendments/queries to Julie Timbrell Tel: 020 7525 0514

Name No of 
copies

Name No of 
copies

Health Partners

Matthew Patrick, CEO, SLaM NHS Trust
Jo Kent, SLAM, Service Director, Acute CAG, 
SLaM
Sarah Willoughby, Head of Stakeholder 
Relations King's College Hospital KCH FT

Members

Councillor Davis Noakes (Vice-Chair)

1
1

1

1

Council Officers

David Quirke-Thornton, Strategic Director 
of Children's & Adults Services
Andrew Bland, Chief Officer, Southwark 
CCG
Malcolm Hines, Southwark CCG
Kevin Fenton, Director of Health and 
Wellbeing 
Jin Lim, Consultant Public Health 
Jay Stickland , Director Adult Social Care
Sarah Feasey, Legal
Chris Page, Head of Cabinet Office and 
Public Affairs
Steffan John, Liberal Democrat Office
Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny Team SPARES

External
Tom White, Southwark Pensioners’ Action 
Group
Aarti Gandesha Healthwatch Southwark
Elizabeth Rylance-Watson

1

1

1
1

1
1
1
1

1
10

1

1
1

Electronic agenda (no hard copy)

Members 
Councillor Barrie Hargrove (Chair) 
Councillor Jack Buck
Councillor Radha Burgess
Councillor Gavin Edwards
Councillor Leanne Werner
Councillor Maria Linforth-Hall

Reserves
Councillor Damian O’Brien

Total:27

Dated: September 2018 

11


	Agenda
	6 Nexus Health Group - CQC report
	Nexus Health Group
	Ratings
	Overall rating for this location
	Are services safe?
	Are services effective?
	Are services caring?
	Are services responsive?
	Are services well-led?


	Overall summary
	Population group ratings
	Older people
	People with long-term conditions
	Families, children and young people
	Working age people (including those recently retired and students)
	People whose circumstances may make them vulnerable
	People experiencing poor mental health (including people with dementia)

	Our inspection team
	Background to Nexus Health Group
	Action we have told the provider to take
	Regulated activity
	Regulation

	Requirement notices
	Action we have told the provider to take
	Regulated activity
	Regulation
	Regulated activity
	Regulation

	Enforcement actions

	 Blank
	HealthyCommunitesDistributionList201819Sept2018OPEN


